# Canadian **Journal** of **Health** Technologies

**CADTH** 

August 2022 Volume 2 Issue 8

# **CADTH Horizon Scan**

# Understanding the Portrait of Dementia Care in Canada: A CADTH Panel of Experts



ISSN: 2563-6596

**Disclaimer:** The information in this document is intended to help Canadian health care decision-makers, health care professionals, health systems leaders, and policy-makers make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. While patients and others may access this document, the document is made available for informational purposes only and no representations or warranties are made with respect to its fitness for any particular purpose. The information in this document should not be used as a substitute for professional medical advice or as a substitute for the application of clinical judgment in respect of the care of a particular patient or other professional judgment in any decision-making process. The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) does not endorse any information, drugs, therapies, treatments, products, processes, or services.

While care has been taken to ensure that the information prepared by CADTH in this document is accurate, complete, and up-to-date as at the applicable date the material was first published by CADTH, CADTH does not make any guarantees to that effect. CADTH does not guarantee and is not responsible for the quality, currency, propriety, accuracy, or reasonableness of any statements, information, or conclusions contained in any third-party materials used in preparing this document. The views and opinions of third parties published in this document do not necessarily state or reflect those of CADTH.

CADTH is not responsible for any errors, omissions, injury, loss, or damage arising from or relating to the use (or misuse) of any information, statements, or conclusions contained in or implied by the contents of this document or any of the source materials.

This document may contain links to third-party websites. CADTH does not have control over the content of such sites. Use of third-party sites is governed by the third-party website owners' own terms and conditions set out for such sites. CADTH does not make any guarantee with respect to any information contained on such third-party sites and CADTH is not responsible for any injury, loss, or damage suffered as a result of using such third-party sites. CADTH has no responsibility for the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information by third-party sites.

Subject to the aforementioned limitations, the views expressed herein do not necessarily reflect the views of Health Canada, Canada's provincial or territorial governments, other CADTH funders, or any third-party supplier of information.

This document is prepared and intended for use in the context of the Canadian health care system. The use of this document outside of Canada is done so at the user's own risk.

This disclaimer and any questions or matters of any nature arising from or relating to the content or use (or misuse) of this document will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, and all proceedings shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario, Canada.

The copyright and other intellectual property rights in this document are owned by CADTH and its licensors. These rights are protected by the Canadian *Copyright Act* and other national and international laws and agreements. Users are permitted to make copies of this document for non-commercial purposes only, provided it is not modified when reproduced and appropriate credit is given to CADTH and its licensors.

**About CADTH:** CADTH is an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for providing Canada's health care decision-makers with objective evidence to help make informed decisions about the optimal use of drugs, medical devices, diagnostics, and procedures in our health care system.

Funding: CADTH receives funding from Canada's federal, provincial, and territorial governments, with the exception of Quebec.

Questions or requests for information about this report can be directed to requests@cadth.ca



# **Authors**

Oliver Varette, Ashely Baddeley, Anabele Briere, Laurie Lambert, Tamara Rader, Julie Boucher, Nicole Mittmann

#### **Panelists**

#### Dr. Luca Pisterzi

Toronto Dementia Research Alliance (TDRA)

#### Dr. Sandra Black

Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre

## Dr. Tarek Rajji

Toronto Dementia Research Alliance (TDRA) Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH)

#### Dr. Carmela Tartaglia

University Health Network

### Dr. Zahinoor Ismail

University of Calgary

# **Conflicts of Interest**

Dr. Zahinoor Ismail received consultation and advisory fees from Lundbeck/Otsuka. Dr. Tarek K. Rajji received n-kind equipment support from Newronika; in-kind research online accounts from Scientific Brain Training Pro; participated in 2021 in advisory board meeting for Biogen Canada Inc.; and participated in 2021 in advisory board meeting for Biogen Canada Inc. Dr. Sandra Black served as ad hoc advisor to some pharma companies developing drugs for treatment of Alzheimer Disease (Biogen and Hoffmann La-Roche); and participated in education series on dementia especially imaging-sponsored. There were no other declarations.



# **Table of Contents**

| Key Messages   | 6  |
|--|----|
| Background   | 6  |
| Panel Objectives   |    |
| Approach   | 7  |
| Panel Selection  |    |
| Panel Discussion   | 7  |
| Expressed Needs and Insights                                 | 8  |
| Improve Patient Diagnosis                                    | 8  |
| Develop Standardized and Collaborative Health Care           | 9  |
| Enhance Patient Access to Resources                          | 10 |
| Need for Novel Treatment Options and Health System Readiness | 11 |
| Opportunities for Further Learning                           | 12 |
| References   | 13 |
|  |    |



| Li | st | of | Tal | bl | es |
|----|----|----|-----|----|----|
|    |    |    |     |    |    |

| T 11 / |                 | Members | _  |
|--------|-----------------|---------|----|
| Iania  | i. Evnart bandi | Mamnare | _/ |
|        |                 |         |    |



# **Key Messages**

- The prevalence of dementia is increasing annually and there is an ongoing, increasing, and evolving demand for enhanced care for dementia patients in Canada.
- CADTH facilitated a 5-member clinician panel to garner the perspectives of individuals who are currently providing care to Canadian patients with dementia and/or participating in dementia-related health research.
- The panel highlighted several themes pertaining to the current portrait of dementia care in Canada and health system readiness for future burdens of disease, including:
  - improved patient diagnosis
  - o development of standardized and collaborative health care
  - o increasing patient access to specialist and treatment resources
  - o preparing for new and effective therapies.

# Background

It is projected that by the year 2030, 1.4 billion people worldwide will be aged 60 or older and this number will increase to over 2 billion by 2050.4 This demographic shift has led to an increasing number of people living with dementia. According to the Alzheimer Society of Canada, over 700 000 Canadians are currently living with Alzheimer disease (AD) or other forms of dementia, with over 75 000 new diagnoses each year, a number that is expected to rise. 5 The estimated annual cost of dementia care to the Canadian health care system is \$10.4 billion, a number that is expected to double by 2031.6

The National Strategy for Alzheimer Disease and Other Dementias Act was passed in 2017 and has driven the development of a national Dementia Strategy for Canada aimed at outlining common principles and a national objective to guide action relating to dementia care across all levels of government. The plan encompasses 3 national objectives including prevention of dementia, advancing therapies toward a cure, and improving the quality of life for people living with dementia and their care partners.<sup>12,13</sup>

Dementia refers to an umbrella set of symptoms affecting cognition (including memory), mood, and behaviour. It is a chronic condition that worsens progressively over time and may be preceded by prodromal stages of mild cognitive impairment (MCI). There are several conditions that may underlie the development of dementia and include AD, Parkinson disease, stroke, as well as Lewy body and frontotemporal dementias.

Current diagnostic approaches for AD and other causes of dementia involve cognitive and neurologic assessments, medical neuroimaging, and clinical evaluation by trained specialists such as psychiatrists, cognitive neurologists, and geriatricians.<sup>7,8</sup> This process may also be supported by laboratory testing of blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) for associated biomarkers (e.g., amyloid, phosphorylated tau, etc.) and screening for risk-associated genes such as presenilin, and offer further possibilities for the diagnosis of dementia.<sup>9</sup>

There are currently no curative or disease-modifying therapies approved for the treatment of dementia in Canada, with current options limited to symptom management and psychosocial interventions. There are several new therapies being evaluated for the treatment of



dementia including novel biologic drug therapies, <sup>10</sup> and non-pharmacological approaches including neuromodulation, which was reviewed in a recent Horizon Scan document produced by CADTH. <sup>11</sup>

# **Panel Objectives**

- To hear the perspectives of Canadian clinician experts and researchers to help develop a current portrait of care of dementia care in Canada.
- Gain insights regarding health system readiness and current barriers to delivering quality and equitable care to patients.

# **Approach**

# **Panel Selection**

A 5-member panel was convened (<u>Table 1</u>) to include clinicians and researchers involved in care for dementia patients in Canada.

#### **Panel Discussion**

A roundtable discussion took place on February 3, 2022. The topics of discussion focused on describing the current state of dementia care in Canada and identifying considerations on the readiness of our current health system to provide quality, accessible, and equitable health care to an aging population. Discussions were held in an open forum format, facilitated by members of CADTH and centred on a framework of components of the system of care that was shared with participants before the discussion.

**Table 1: Expert Panel Members** 

| Name                                 | Background  |
|--------------------------------------|---|
| Dr. Sandra Black<br>Toronto, ON      | Dr. Black is a neurologist specializing in cognition and stroke and is a clinician scientist based at Sunnybrook Health Science Centre. She held the inaugural Brill Chair in Neurology at the University of Toronto, has contributed to over 700 scientific publications, and has been appointed to the Order of Ontario and as an Officer to the Order of Canada. |
| Dr. Zahinoor Ismail<br>Calgary, AB   | Dr. Ismail is a neuropsychiatrist and a professor of psychiatry, neurology, and epidemiology at the University of Calgary. He is Chair of the Canadian Consensus Conference on Diagnosis and Treatment of Dementia and a clinical scientist focusing on dementia prognostication, early detection, and treatment.   |
| Dr. Luca Pisterzi<br>Toronto, ON     | Dr. Pisterzi is the Director of Strategy and Operations for the Toronto Dementia Research Alliance.   |
| Dr. Tarek Rajji<br>Toronto, ON       | Dr. Rajji is a geriatric psychiatrist, the Executive Director of the Toronto Dementia Research Alliance, and the Chief of the Adult Neurodevelopment and Geriatric Psychiatry Division at the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. He is also a clinician scientist and the Director of the Geriatric Psychiatry Division at the University of Toronto.          |
| Dr. Carmela Tartaglia<br>Toronto, ON | Dr. Tartaglia is a cognitive neurologist at the University Health Network, a clinician scientist at the Tanz Centre for Research in Neurodegenerative Diseases, and an associate professor at the University of Toronto.  |



# **Expressed Needs and Insights**

From their professional experiences, panel members were asked to provide insight on the current portrait of dementia care in Canada and potential barriers relating to health system readiness and future potential to provide high quality patient care. Below is a summary of key themes and ideas distilled from the discussion, along with relevant quotes to help illustrate these thoughts.

# **Improve Patient Diagnosis**

Receiving a timely and reliable diagnosis is often the first step to receiving quality medical care of dementia. The topic of diagnosing dementia and its diverse spectrum of related diseases was raised on several occasions by the clinicians participating in this panel discussion. The panelists indicated that the current processes for dementia diagnosis in Canada must evolve moving forward and that several emerging health technologies may facilitate this improvement.

"I think we're just starting to understand the complexity and heterogeneity of these diseases, which makes it very hard to know who should get what and when."

There is variability in the clinical presentation, detection, and symptoms associated with both dementia and prodromal MCI. Recent advances in the field have demonstrated the intricacy of dementia pathology, including co-occurrence with other conditions and the complex interplay of various vascular, genetic, and biochemical factors. There are also subtle cognitive symptoms in the early stages of dementia which can delay provision of appropriate care if they are overlooked or misdiagnosed. Further, there is a demonstrable need to expand the current system of health data coding to better track and manage additional symptoms associated with prodromal dementia including changes in behaviour, mood, and mobility. The clinicians agreed that there should be an increased focus on earlier diagnosis to facilitate the opportunity for those living with dementia to access effective treatments. It was noted that therapies for those living with moderate to severe AD are limited and there is a desire to identify and treat patients sooner.

It was further highlighted throughout the discussion that it can be challenging for patients to receive a timely and reliable dementia diagnosis for several reasons including, difficulty in diagnosing the condition for non-specialists and medical professionals without advanced training in aging and associated conditions, shortage of available specialists and care facilities (e.g., memory care clinics), limited access to diagnostic resources and equipment (e.g., PET scans, biomarker screening), and a need for increased standardized screening for cognitive impairment at all levels of health care. Several of these ideas were echoed by the panel in subsequent themes throughout this report.

Recent advances in the areas of genetic and biomarker screening provide novel methods for diagnosing the neurogenerative conditions causing dementia and are viewed by clinicians as powerful tools for the future. Wider availability of genetic testing in both hospitals and commercial kits (e.g., 23andME) provides broader access for screening of genetic risk factors associated with various diseases, including dementia. There is emerging evidence for the role of genetic risk factors for the development of AD. The panel agreed that these ongoing developments may improve diagnosis in the early stages of dementia and in younger individuals.



"Patients themselves are self-identifying...there is not a standardized approach."

There was further consensus from the experts on the use of biomarkers for diagnosing dementia. Biomarkers are measurable indicators of a disease and are used to both diagnose and monitor several medical conditions. In the case of dementia and associated disease this includes aberrant levels of proteins like amyloid, total and phosphorylated tau, and neurofilament light chain. These proteins can be tested in either blood or CSF and are considered by the panel to be reliable and cost-effective in their use for diagnosis dementia. There was a strong consensus among the panelists that the future of Canadian dementia care should place increased emphasis on the use and accessibility to biomarker testing, as this will improve timely and equitable access to quality care.

# **Develop Standardized and Collaborative Health Care**

Health care in Canada is provided at multiple levels with input from a range of medical professionals across several geographic jurisdictions. Collaborative care involves a teambased approach to care in which various health professionals provide multidisciplinary primary care and resources for patients. These integrated, collaborative care models are shown to drive better health outcomes for patients and improved access to services and resources. <sup>14,15</sup> A need for more standardized and collaborative care models with embedded research capabilities for dementia was another core theme that echoed through the discussion.

"We've understood that together we can do so much more than we can do apart and actually have been developing standardized assessment tools and imaging, which I think can impact what's going on in the rest of Canada."

The panelists were united in their views that allied health support including non-specialist physicians and nurse practitioners are crucial to providing dementia care to Canadians. They also shared the view that this will only increase in the future. Delayed access to specialists is often a bottleneck in the care pathway for many dementia patients, often resulting in delays for patients in receiving accurate diagnoses and appropriate treatment. One way to overcome this barrier according to clinicians is a more collaborative approach in which primary care physicians and other allied health professionals identify patients and provide access to resources and specialists as required. An example of such an approach is being explored in multi-specialty interprofessional team-based (MINT) memory clinics, which the panel agreed are an innovative and valuable resource in the care of dementia.

"I think one way to get around this is that we need to create different consultation support and engagement of the specialist with the primary care sector."

"Standardization of existing treatments leads to much better outcomes but also leads to significant acceleration to accessing the right treatment."

As mentioned previously, the diagnosis of dementia and underlying neurodegenerative diseases can be a challenging endeavour. A focus on enhancing standardized or algorithmic dementia care models was raised by the panel. The enhanced model should encompass standardized diagnostic criteria nationwide including the potential use of biomarkers, periodic screening for cognitive impairment for aging patients, improved capture of dementia for health records and medical data, defined clinical pathways with support for specialist referrals, and more effective therapeutic options.



The clinicians indicated that modifying current funding models pertaining to specialists providing care for dementia patients should also be considered. It was proposed that the future of dementia care should incorporate elements of virtual care, to expand the access to Canadians of physicians specializing in the diagnosis and treatment of dementia. This type of virtual care is currently being offered in MINT memory clinics across Ontario.

The importance of the patient perspective in building toward a future of accessible, quality care for those living with dementia was another point emphasized by the clinician panel. CADTH engaged a panel of Canadian dementia patients and caregivers to explore what is important to those with lived experience with dementia. It was also suggested that future discussion relating to the current and future portrait of dementia care involve a multistakeholder panel approach with collaborative input at all levels of the health care system including specialists, general practitioners and family physicians, nurse practitioners, patients, insurance providers and pharmaceutical manufacturers, further underscoring the desire for a more collaborative approach to dementia care.

#### **Enhance Patient Access to Resources**

Improving access to care resources for patients living with dementia emerged as a foundational theme throughout the panel discussion. The panel indicated that 1 barrier to the current and future of dementia care in Canada is a frequent delay or waiting period for patients to access specialists and the necessary resources to accurately diagnose and treat the condition effectively. A report by the RAND Corporation assessing Canada's health system readiness for new dementia therapies estimated that the average wait time to receive a diagnosis or access treatments in Canada was 28 months.<sup>10</sup>

According to clinicians, primary driver of these access delays is an overall lack of specialist clinicians trained to appropriately diagnose and treat dementia, especially in early stages of MCI. The panel expressed an immediate need for more specialists and increased allied health support for those currently treating patients across the country. The panel indicated that increasing the opportunity for primary care physicians, nurse practitioners and other allied health professionals to access additional training in aging in tandem with a more integrated, collaborative approach are essential to decreasing the current delay from symptom onset to accessing care for Canadians. A Canadian Institute for Health Information report that showed that only 2 out of 5 family doctors in Canada felt well prepared to treat and manage dementia and related conditions in their communities, despite over 80% indicating that they often deal with dementia patients in their practice. 16

The panel noted barriers in access to essential resources used for the diagnosis and treatment of dementia. One example centred on neuroimaging equipment frequently used to diagnose dementia and follow disease progression and responses to treatment. This often involves the use of MRI (MRI) and PET (PET) scans to assess brain and vasculature pathologies, and presence of dementia-related depositions including amyloid protein. The panel indicated an immediate need for increased access to PET scanners and other technologies used to assess patients and their disease progression. It is estimated that there were 51 PET scanners located across Canada as of 2018 and that they are primarily used for diagnosis and treating various cancers. 10,17,18 It was also mentioned that increasing the use of biomarkers for diagnostic purposes will decrease the demand for neuroimaging resources and are cost-effective compared to current options.



"We were very behind in our access to technologies. There are PET scanners, they are just not being used for the purposes of dementia diagnosis."

The panel further indicated a need to improve patient access to specialty care clinics including specialist memory care clinics and experimental treatment options involving IV infusion sites. These clinics are often the location for providing collaborative, team-based care to dementia patients in which they can access specialist services including medical imaging, biomarkers screening and genetic testing referrals, access to treatment options including IV infusions when required, and additional caregiver resources. The panel unanimously highlighted the value of these clinics and their associated services and believed that increasing both their number and accessibility was an essential consideration for the future of dementia care in Canada.

# **Need for Novel Treatment Options and Health System Readiness**

There are currently no approved disease-modifying or curative treatments for dementia. Current options commonly involve daily management of symptoms and rely heavily on the patients and their caregivers to monitor and balance the disease with daily life. There was a consensus among the panel that Canada has a need for new and effective treatments of dementia, and that the health care system must be readied to appropriately explore and implement new therapeutic options as they become available. The panelists also referenced a report from the RAND Corporation that specifically highlighted that the current health care system in Canada is not ready to optimally receive and implement the next generation of therapies for dementia patients, 10 and that this must be addressed to accommodate the projected health burden of an aging population.

There are currently medications and pharmacological treatments that are prescribed by physicians to help patients manage dementia, including cholinesterase inhibitors, to potentially improve memory and cognitive functions. Antidepressant drugs and antipsychotic drugs may be used to manage behavioural and neuropsychiatric symptoms of dementia (e.g., agitation, psychosis), although they are generally prescribed off label. Although, antipsychotic drugs carry black box warning for substantial risk and are associated with uncertainties surrounding their prescriptions, dosing regimens, and overall effectiveness in real-world settings for dementia patients.<sup>19</sup>

"Canada's readiness for any disease-modifying agent is really lacking because of needing to prove that you have Alzheimer's disease before you could actually access any of the therapies."

New therapeutic drugs are currently being investigated to treat AD and other forms of dementia, including several disease-modifying options that target the underlying pathologies contributing to the disease. For example, the next generation of AD therapies feature several antibody-based therapies targeting proteins linked to the disease including beta-amyloid and tau proteins. 9,10,20 There are also several therapies that target the *BACE1* gene that is involved in producing a toxic form of amyloid that deposit in the brains of some patients. 21 The panel echoed that these new therapeutics have the potential to improve the quality of dementia care in Canada, but that several hurdles remain to be overcome before this can occur.

"Many times, the real-world efficacy or the effectiveness of these interventions become much lower than what is shown in the studies, and I think part of that is because real practice deviates quite a bit from what the evidence suggests."



The panel also highlighted that the role of real-world evidence is expected to increase for assessing the clinical benefits and cost-effectiveness of new therapies. It was felt that clinical trials are often under representative of a highly diverse real-world patient population, and this is reflected in the current uncertainties relating to current therapeutic drug options and their effectiveness for treating dementia. It will therefore be important to access reliable and quality sources of health data and real-world evidence to inform future decision-making related to providing dementia care to Canadians.

# **Opportunities for Further Learning**

The following are areas for future improvement and learning opportunities for future panel discussions pertaining to dementia care in Canada, as proposed by both CADTH and the clinician experts:

- interdisciplinary, multistakeholder panel discussion bringing patients and clinicians together with additional input from allied health professionals including primary care physicians, nurses, nurse practitioners, care partners, and other entities participating in the provision of dementia care to Canadians
- expanding the clinician panel to include specialists from outside of Ontario and Alberta to gather a more comprehensive perspective relating to the needs of Canadian dementia patients and care providers.



# References

- 1. Boucher J. Dementia concerns and considerations: a CADTH panel of people with lived experience. Can J Health Technol. 2022;2(4)
- Chang A, Vannabouathong C, Perras C. Utilization of cholinesterase inhibitors for Alzheimer disease in Canada. Can J Health Technol. 2022;2(6). <a href="https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/hta-he/HC0027-Utilization-of-ChEls-meta.pdf">https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/hta-he/HC0027-Utilization-of-ChEls-meta.pdf</a>. Accessed 2022 Jul 5.
- 3. Chao Y-S, Sinclair A, Morrison A, Hafizi D, Pyke L. The Canadian medical imaging inventory 2019-2020. Can J Health Technol. 2021;1(1). https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/ou-tr/op0546-cmii3-final-report.pdf. Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- Global action plan on the public health response to dementia 2017-2025. Geneva (CH): World Health Organization; 2017: <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/global-action-plan-on-the-public-health-response-to-dementia-2017">https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/global-action-plan-on-the-public-health-response-to-dementia-2017</a>—2025. Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- 5. Alzheimer Society of Canada. Dementia numbers in Canada. 2022; <a href="https://alzheimer.ca/en/about-dementia/what-dementia/dementia-numbers-canada">https://alzheimer.ca/en/about-dementia/what-dementia/dementia-numbers-canada</a>. Accessed 2022 Mar 29.
- Population Health Expert Panel. Prevalence and monetary costs of dementia in Canada. Toronto (ON): Alzheimer Society Canada of Canada, Public Health
  Agency of Canada; 2016: <a href="https://alzheimer.ca/sites/default/files/documents/Prevalence-and-costs-of-dementia-in-Canada\_Alzheimer-Society-Canada.pdf">https://alzheimer.ca/sites/default/files/documents/Prevalence-and-costs-of-dementia-in-Canada\_Alzheimer-Society-Canada.pdf</a>.
  Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- 7. Kaj Blennow HZ. Fluid biomarker-based molecular phenotypic of Alzhemier's disease in reasearch and clinical settings. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci. 2019;168.
- 8. Tam-Tham H, Nettel-Aguirre A, Silvius J, et al. Provision of dementia-related services in Canada: a comparative study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2016;16(1):184. PubMed
- Serrano-Pozo A, Das S, Hyman BT. APOE and Alzheimer's disease: advances in genetics, pathophysiology, and therapeutic approaches. Lancet Neurol. 2021;20(1):68-80. <u>PubMed</u>
- 10. Liu JL, Hlavka JP, Coulter DT, Baxi SM, Mattke S, Gidengil CA. Assessing the preparedness of the Canadian health care system infrastructure for an Alzheimer's treatment. Santa Monica (CA): RAND Corporation; 2019: https://www.rand.org/pubs/research\_reports/RR2744.html. Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- 11. Gunn H, Grobelna A. Neuromodulation technologies for the ttreatment of Alzheimer's disease. Can J Health Technol. 2021;1(9). https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/hs-eh/EH0095%20Neuromodulation%20Alzheimer%20Final.pdf. Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- 12. A dementia strategy for Canada: together we aspire. Ottawa (ON): Public Health Agency of Canada; 2019: <a href="https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/images/services/publications/diseases-conditions/dementia-strategy/National%20Dementia%20Strategy\_ENG.pdf">https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/images/services/publications/diseases-conditions/dementia-strategy/National%20Dementia%20Strategy\_ENG.pdf</a>. Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- 13. A dementia for Canada: together we achieve 2020 annual report. Ottawa (ON): Public Health Agency of Canada; 2020: <a href="https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/dementia-strategy-annual-report-parliament-june-2020.html">https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/dementia-strategy-annual-report-parliament-june-2020.html</a>. Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- 14. Solberg JJ, Deyo-Svendsen ME, Nylander KR, Bruhl EJ, Heredia D, Angstman KB. Collaborative Care Management Associated With Improved Depression Outcomes in Patients With Personality Disorders, Compared to Usual Primary Care. J Prim Care Community Health. 2018;9:2150132718773266. PubMed
- 15. Rowe GC, Congdon HB, Pittman J, Wiseman R, Shields R. Interprofessional education clinics and improved outcomes for primary care patients with diabetes. *J Interprof Educ Pract*. 2021;24:100441.
- 16. Canadian Institute for Health Information. Family doctor preparedness. 2022; <a href="https://www.cihi.ca/en/dementia-in-canada/spotlight-on-dementia-issues/family-doctor-preparedness#ref2">https://www.cihi.ca/en/dementia-in-canada/spotlight-on-dementia-issues/family-doctor-preparedness#ref2</a>. Accessed 2022 Mar 28.
- 17. The role of neuroimaging in drugs targeting amyloid-deta in Alzheimer disease: part 1. (Canadian Medical Imaging Inventory Service Report). Ottawa (ON): CADTH; 2021: <a href="https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/2021-11/role\_neuroimaging\_in\_drugs\_targeting\_amyloid-beta\_in\_alzheimer\_disease.pdf">https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/2021-11/role\_neuroimaging\_in\_drugs\_targeting\_amyloid-beta\_in\_alzheimer\_disease.pdf</a>. Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- 18. The role of PET-CT in drugs targeting amyloid-beta in Alzheimer disease: part 2. (Canadian Medical Imaging Inventory Service Report). Ottawa (ON): CADTH; 2022: <a href="https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/2022-01/role\_of\_PET-CT\_in\_drugs\_targeting\_amyloid\_beta\_in\_alzheimer\_disease\_part\_2FINAL.pdf">https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/2022-01/role\_of\_PET-CT\_in\_drugs\_targeting\_amyloid\_beta\_in\_alzheimer\_disease\_part\_2FINAL.pdf</a>. Accessed 2022 Mar 9.
- Ismail Z, Creese B, Aarsland D, et al. Psychosis in Alzheimer disease mechanisms, genetics and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Neurol. 2022;18(3):131-144. PubMed
- 20. Cummings J, Lee G, Zhong K, Fonseca J, Taghva K. Alzheimer's disease drug development pipeline: 2021. Alzheimers Dement (N Y). 2021;7(1):e12179. PubMed
- 21. Das B, Yan R. A Close Look at BACE1 Inhibitors for Alzheimer's Disease Treatment. CNS Drugs. 2019;33(3):251-263. PubMed